#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

Deborah Shaw, Petitioner,

JAN 1 2 2015

VS.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Superior Court of the State of California, Respondent,

THC – Orange County, Inc., a California corporation; Kindred Healthcare Operating, Inc., Kindred Hospitals West, LLC, Kindred Healthcare Inc., Real Parties in Interest.

> Court of Appeal, 2d Dist., Div. 3, Case No. B254958 Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC493928 Honorable Alan S. Rosenfield

#### REAL PARTIES IN INTERESTS' OPENING BRIEF

### II. INTRODUCTION

#### A. <u>BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY</u>

Real Party in Interest THC-Orange County, Inc. (dba Kindred Hospital – Los Angeles) employed Plaintiff / Petitioner Deborah Shaw as a Human Resources Coordinator.<sup>3</sup> After THC-Orange County discharged Shaw for performance reasons, she filed a lawsuit for wrongful termination in violation of public policy and violation of Health and Safety Code section 1278.5. She claims she was discharged for reporting that nurses were working with expired licenses, and that professional staff had not properly completed clinical competencies. *See* Slip Op. at pp.2-3, *Shaw*, 229 Cal. App. 4th at p.16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> These background facts and history are taken from the Court of Appeal's slip opinion, attached to the Petition for Review.

During pre-trial hearings, Respondent Superior Court ruled that the section 1278.5 claim is equitable in nature and, therefore, would be tried to the court rather than a jury. The trial court also certified that issue for resolution by the Court of Appeal under Civil Procedure Code section 166.1. *See* Slip Op. at pp. 4-5, Shaw, 229 Cal. App. 4th at p.17.<sup>4</sup>

Shaw filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate on or about March 17, 2014. The Court of Appeal issued an Order to Show Cause on April 17, 2014. Real Parties filed a Demurrer and Return on or about May 13, 2014. The Court of Appeal held oral argument on June 15, 2014, and issued its opinion on August 21, 2014.

Real Parties timely Petitioned this Court for review. This Court granted review on November 12, 2014.

# B. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRONEOUSLY OVERRULED REAL PARTIES' DEMURRER TO PLAINTIFF'S WRIT PETITION

This Court twice has ruled, without any qualification, that a party's right to a jury trial in a civil action presents a question of law, reviewable via appeal rather than via mandate. *See Nessbit v. Superior Court*, (1931) 214 Cal. 1; *Donohue v. Superior Court* (1892) 93 Cal. 252.

The Court of Appeal's decision in the instant case is the first to expressly decline to follow these cases. The Court below acknowledged, "Nessbit has not been reversed." Slip Op. p. 6, Shaw, 229 Cal. App. 4th at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 166.1 provides in part: "Upon the written request of any party or his or her counsel, or at the judge's discretion, a judge may indicate in any interlocutory order a belief that there is a controlling question of law as to which there are substantial grounds for difference of opinion, appellate resolution of which may materially advance the conclusion of the litigation." However, that section "does not change existing writ procedures or create a new level of appellate review." See Bank of America Corp. v. Superior Court (2011) 198 Cal. App. 4th 862, 869 (internal quotation omitted).

p. 18. Yet, the Court of Appeal instead decided to follow the Third District's decision in *Byram v. Superior Court* (1977) 74 Cal. App. 3d 648, 654. The *Byram* court held, directly contrary to *Nessbit* and *Donohue*: "A writ of mandate is a proper remedy to secure the right to a jury trial . . . ." But the *Byram* court announced this rule without citing, distinguishing, or explaining *Nessbit*.

The Court of Appeal in the instant case wrote that *Nessbit* and *Byram* could be "harmonized." Slip Op., p. 6, *Shaw*, 229 Cal. App. 4th at p. 18. That is not so. This Court in *Nessbit* and *Donohue* held *without* qualification that the question of whether a jury trial is available is not reviewable by writ, because the denial of trial by jury presents a question of law adequately addressable on appeal. *Byram* reached the opposite conclusion, apparently without considering *Nesbitt* or *Donohue*. The *Byram* court did not hold writ review was "sometimes" available in an appropriate case, but rather, categorically announced that a writ is "proper." This Court in *Nessbit* and *Donohue* did not rule that writ review is sometimes available instead of post-judgment appeal. *Byram* and this Court's precedent therefore directly conflict.

The Court below, presented with a holding of this Court and a contrary holding of *Byram*, a sister court, was not authorized to follow *Byram*. Unless the Legislature abrogates or this Court overrules its decisions, they bind the Courts of Appeal. *See generally Auto Equity Sales* v. *Superior Court* (1962) 57 Cal. 2d 450.

Moreover, *Byram* is based on cursory and flawed reasoning. The Court's rationale that the writ is justified because post-judgment review is "inefficient and time consuming" is contrary to settled law, and would justify writ review of almost any material pre-trial order. *Byram*'s justification that aggrieved parties may not be able to demonstrate prejudice on appeal is also incorrect, as the wrongful denial of a jury trial is

reversible without a showing of actual prejudice. Moreover, in this case, Plaintiff will have a jury trial on her common law, "Tameny" claim, which the trial court will hear simultaneously with the statutory claim. The writ proceeding below interrupted a trial that would have started in March 2014 and ended before April 1. The outcome of that trial may well have determined whether post-judgment appeal was desirable or warranted by either side. Therefore, the writ was not necessarily more efficient or timethrifty than allowing the case to go to trial.

# C. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRONEOUSLY CONCLUDED HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE SECTION 1278.5 PROVIDES A RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL

The Court of Appeal's decision regarding the right to jury trial under Health and Safety Code section 1278.5 also was erroneous. The California Constitution does not preserve a right to a jury trial for claims that sound in equity. Section 1278.5, a "whistleblower retaliation" claim, is equitable in nature.

The availability of a jury trial depends on the "gist" of the claim. The "gist" of section 1278.5 is the equitable claim for restitution. The statute's text, legislative history, and even its placement within the Health and Safety Code's regulatory provisions, demonstrate the law vests the "court," not a jury, with significant discretion to award equitable relief. The statute, applicable to hospital facilities and their employees, is based on a similar provision applicable to long-term care facilities, which does not provide for a private right of action, much less a jury trial.

Relying on a 2007 amendment to section 1278.5 and some ambiguous legislative history, the Court of Appeal held that section 1278.5 sounds in law rather than equity, affording Plaintiff a jury trial. The Court of Appeal focused on a "catch-all" added to the law's remedies provision.

The Court of Appeal's decision is incorrect. The amendments to section 1278.5 expanded the statute's scope, including the remedies available and the class of plaintiffs protected, But these remedies remain equitable in nature. The trial court's equitable power includes the discretion to award legal damages when the court deems them to be warranted.

Therefore, even if the Court of Appeal had authority to reach the merits of Shaw's Petition for Writ of Mandate, it discharged its Order to Show Cause and denied the Petition.

### III. DISCUSSION

- A. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY OVERRULING REAL PARTIES' DEMURRER TO SHAW'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE AS A MATTER OF STARE DECISIS
  - 1. This Court Has Twice Ruled that Writ Review of a Jury Trial Ruling Is Not Available, Because an Adequate Remedy at Law Exists

As stated, Shaw filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate in the Court of Appeal to overturn the trial court's ruling that no jury trial is available under Health and Saf. Code section 1278.5. Real Parties demurred to that Petition, citing this Court's ruling in *Nessbit v. Superior Court of Alameda County* (1931) 214 Cal. 1, 7 (emphasis added).

Here is what this Court wrote in *Nessbit*:

This court and the District Court of Appeal have squarely held in numerous civil and criminal actions and proceedings not amounting to a felony that mandate is not the proper remedy to test the right to a jury trial. That is a question of law which the superior court has jurisdiction to hear and determine, and if error has been or shall be committed in determining that question, the petitioner has a sufficient remedy in the ordinary course of law by appeal.

Nessbit 214 Cal. 1, 7 (emphasis added).

This Court's opinion in *Nessbit* is based on an earlier decision in *Donohue v. Superior Court* (1892) 93 Cal. 252, from which the above language is quoted. *Id.* at p. 253.

Real Parties, in their Demurrer to Shaw's Petition for Writ of Mandate, cited both of these decisions to the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal acknowledged *Nessbit*, but stated that this Court *in Nessbit* "did not conclude that no case in which a jury trial was denied would ever be appropriate for writ review." Slip Op. at p.7, *Shaw*, 229 Cal. App. 4th at p. 19.

Instead, the Court below decided to follow *Byram v. Superior Court* (1977) 74 Cal. App. 3d 648. In *Byram*, the court considered whether the plaintiff had waived his right to a jury trial by failing to deposit jury fees, not whether a statute afforded him a right to jury trial. After the superior court denied relief, he sought a writ from the Court of Appeal. Without citing or distinguishing *Donohue* or *Nessbit*, the Court of Appeal in *Byram* simply stated: "A writ of mandate is a proper remedy to secure the right to a jury trial." *Id* at 654. That holding plainly contradicts this Court's decisions discussed above, in which this Court held exactly the opposite.

2. The Court Below Erred By Choosing to Follow a Sister Court's Ruing and Declining to Follow Nessbit and Donohue

In Auto Equity Sales v. Superior Court (1962) 57 Cal. 2d 450, this Court held: "the appellate department of the superior court exceeded its 'jurisdiction,' as that term is used in connection with the writ of certiorari, in refusing to follow a rule established by a court of superior jurisdiction" Id. at p. 455 (emphasis added). That is because "all tribunals exercising inferior jurisdiction are required to follow decisions of courts exercising superior jurisdiction." Id. Auto Equity Sales equally applies to the Court of

Appeal, which must follow this Court's decisions. See McClung v. Employment Development Dept. (2004) 34 Cal. 4th 467.

The Courts of Appeal are not in any respect bound to follow sister courts' decisions. See Sarti v. Salt Creek Ltd. (2008) 167 Cal. App. 4th 1187, 1193 (no "horizontal stare decisis" among the courts of appeal). This Court's statement in Nessbit that there is an adequate remedy at law via appeal is a holding. The Courts of Appeal must follow this Court's holdings, even if they were issued long ago, or if later developments in the law could warrant this Court's re-examination. See, e.g., Santa Monica Mun. Employees Ass'n v. City of Santa Monica (1987) 191 Cal. App. 3d 1538, 1546 ("unless and until the Legislature or the California Supreme Court decides to reject the determination that current City employees can be given preference for vacancies, we are bound by that court's determination.").

Therefore, the Court below acted in excess of its jurisdiction, *Auto Equity Sales*, 57 Cal. 2d at p. 455, by following *Byram* and overruling the Demurrer.

# B. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED BY OVERRULING REAL PARTIES' DEMURRER TO SHAW'S WRIT PETITION, BECAUSE SHE HAD AN ADEQUATE REMEDY AT LAW

1. The Writ of Mandate Does Not Lie Because the Trial Court's Interpretation of a Statute as Equitable Is a Question of Law Reviewable Via Appeal

The general rule is that where, as here, a litigant may appeal, after trial, a superior court's allegedly erroneous ruling, that litigant has an adequate remedy at law, ordinarily precluding issuance of the writ. See Civ. Proc. Code § 1086 ("The writ must be issued in all cases where there is not a plain, speedy, and adequate remedy, in the ordinary course of law."); San Diego Gas & Electric Co. v. Superior Court (1996) 13 Cal. 4th 893, 913 ("an appeal is normally presumed to be an adequate remedy at law, thus

barring immediate review by extraordinary writ ."); Andrews v. Police Court of Stockton (1943) 21 Cal. 2d 479, 480 ("The writ of mandate will not issue solely to serve the purpose of a writ of review in order to pass upon claimed errors which are properly reviewable by means of an appeal." (quoting Petaluma etc. District v. Superior Court, (1924) 194 Cal. 183, 184.)); Lincoln v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1943) 22 Cal. 2d 304, 311 ("We reaffirm that 'Mandamus may not be resorted to as a substitute for an adequate legal remedy by appeal or otherwise.'").

As stated, the denial of a jury trial is reviewable via a post-judgment appeal. Nessbit, 214 Cal. at 7; Martin v. County of L.A. (1996) 51 Cal. App. 4th 688, 698. Nessbit therefore applies the above general rule to the superior court's denial of a jury trial: it is reviewable via appeal and, therefore, not via writ. See also Widney v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1927) 84 Cal. App. 498, 499; Mechler v. Superior Court of Alameda County (1927) 85 Cal. App. 353, 354.

2. Shaw Failed in Her Petition to Establish that Appeal from the Judgment Is an Inadequate Remedy at Law

The litigant seeking review via writ of mandate is required to establish the absence of an adequate remedy at law. Civ. Proc. Code § 1086. "The burden, of course, is on the petitioner to show that [s]he did not have such a remedy." *Phelan v. Superior Court of San Francisco* (1950) 35 Cal. 2d 363, 366.

Shaw in her verified Petition for Writ of Mandate averred: "Petitioner has no plain, speedy, and adequate remedy in the ordinary course of law." *See* Petition for Writ of Mandate Etc. p. 6, ¶ 8. She also alleged: "If a demand for a jury trial is refused, the demanding party must seek appellate review by writ of mandate." *Id.*, p. 6. And finally, "Petitioner will be unable to obtain a fair trail because the denial of the right to jury trial is not appealable." *Id*.

The Court of Appeal erred by issuing the writ based on this showing, particularly given *Nessbit*'s unambiguous holding. Shaw did not sustain her burden to prove that post-judgment appeal of Respondent Court's ruling is inadequate. First, as this Court in *Phelan* noted, "general allegations, without reference to any facts, are not sufficient to sustain his burden of showing that the remedy of appeal would be inadequate." *Id.* at p. 370.

Second, Shaw's verified allegations that "the denial of the right to jury trial is not appealable," is without merit. Even courts that have allowed the writ recognize that the denial of a jury trial is indeed appealable from the judgment.

Shaw did not demonstrate any special reason why a post-judgment appeal is inadequate. She therefore did not plead and prove the necessary requirements for writ relief. Therefore, the Court of Appeal erred in granting Shaw's Petition.<sup>5</sup>

3. <u>Byram v. Superior Court and Other Cases Allowing Writ Relief for Denial of Jury Trial Are Erroneous or Distinguishable.</u>

The Court below is the first expressly to hold that *Nessbit* does not preclude issuance of a writ in cases involving the denial of a jury trial. As stated, the Court of Appeal principally relied on *Byram v. Superior Court* (1977) 74 Cal. App. 3d 648.

Byram involved a waiver of the right to jury trial via failure to timely deposit jury fees. *Id.* at 650. The Court of Appeal, without analysis, held as follows:

A writ of mandate is a proper remedy to secure the right to a jury trial. (See Turlock Golf etc. Club v. Superior Court, supra, 240 Cal.App.2d at p. 695.) After a trial to the court it may be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Real Parties raised this issue below in their Demurrer and Return to the Petition for Writ of Mandate, pp. 4-5.

difficult for the petitioner to establish that he was prejudiced by the denial of a jury trial. In addition, even if he could establish such prejudice as to warrant reversal of the judgment, such a procedure would be inefficient and time consuming.

*Id.* at p. 654.6

Putting aside that *Byram* failed to follow (or even mention) *Nessbit* or *Donohue*, the Court's decision is flawed. The reasoning that a party denied jury trial may not be able to prove prejudice on appeal is incorrect. "The denial of the right to jury trial is reversible error per se." *Martin*, 51 Cal. App. 4th at p. 698. Therefore, "[n]o showing of actual prejudice is required." *Ibid*.

Byram's second point is that post-judgment appeal is "inefficient and time consuming." This Court did not so hold in Nessbit, when it decided that post-judgment appeal is sufficient. In any event, post-judgment appeal is not rendered an "inadequate remedy at law" under Civ. Proc. Code section 1086 because appeal is "inefficient and time consuming." All meritorious post-trial appeals based on pre-trial rulings are to some extent inefficient (in that one must wait until after trial for review), and take more time, as compared to immediate writ review. The appellate courts understandably are loath to routinely consider interlocutory orders via writ

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Other Courts of Appeal also have held that the denial of jury trial based on waiver is reviewable via writ, but without mentioning or distinguishing this Court's decisions in *Nessbit* or *Donohue*. *See*, *e.g.*, *Johnson-Stovall* v. *Superior Court* (1993) 17 Cal. App. 4th 808, 812; *Winston* v. *Superior Court* (1987) 196 Cal. App. 3d 600, 603 ("When a trial court has abused its discretion in denying relief from a waiver of jury trial, a writ of mandate prior to the trial is the proper remedy."); *Selby Constructors* v. *McCarthy* (1979) 91 Cal. App. 3d 517, 522 (holding a "ruling denying a party's claim to trial by jury is reviewable by writ."); *Turlock Golf & Country Club* v. *Superior Court* (1966) 240 Cal. App. 2d 693.

to avoid disrupting the normal flow of appellate work. See generally Omaha Indemnity Co. v. Superior Court (1989) 209 Cal. App. 3d 1266 ("Were reviewing courts to treat writs in the same manner as they do appeals, these courts would be trapped in an appellate gridlock.").

Precisely for that reason, courts have long held that writ relief is not justified on the basis that appeals involve expense and take more time than petitions for writ relief. See Mitchell v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1950) 98 Cal. App. 2d 304, 305 ("The most petitioner shows in this regard is that an appeal will take time and cost money. This is insufficient."); Lohr v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1952) 111 Cal. App. 2d 231, 235 (same); Carton Corp. v. Superior Court of Alameda County (1926) 76 Cal. App. 434, 437-438 ("the remedy by appeal is not inadequate because ordinarily it requires more time in its pursuit than either a proceeding in prohibition or mandamus . . . .").

Moreover, Shaw's waiting for the end of the lawsuit to appeal would not be "inefficient." Shaw's common law claim for wrongful termination in violation of public policy is a claim at law, and will be tried to a jury concomitantly with her section 1278.5 claim. See Slip Op. p. 5, n.7, Shaw, 229 Cal. App. 4th at p. 17. The trial court will be bound by the jury's factual findings on that claim. See Hoopes v. Dolan (2008) 168 Cal. App. 4th 146, 159 ("jury's factual findings on legal causes of action should bind the trial court when granting ancillary equitable remedies based on the same facts . . . ."). Thus, if the jury finds in Shaw's favor on retaliation in the context of the common law claim, appeal of the jury trial ruling will be unnecessary. If the jury finds Shaw's employer fired her for legitimate reasons, then section 1278.5 would provide no assistance to her.

To be sure, there are circumstances under which courts will issue writs even when a legal issue is reviewable via appeal. See, e.g., Babb v. Superior Court (1971) 3 Cal. 3d 841, 851 ("upon occasion our attention is

drawn to instances of such grave nature or of such significant legal impact that we feel compelled to intervene through the issuance of an extraordinary writ."); *Holtz v. Superior Court of San Francisco* (1970) 3 Cal. 3d 296, 302 ("a ruling which deprives a party of the opportunity to plead his cause of action or defense . . . ."). However, Shaw made no showing of any special facts or circumstances that would warrant departure from the general principle that review by appeal is an adequate remedy.

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