# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

#### **DEBORAH SHAW,**

Plaintiff and Petitioner,

FEB 1 3 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

VS.

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Deputy CRC 8.25(b)

Respondent;

THC—ORANGE COUNTY, INC., KINDRED HEALTHCARE OPERATING, INC., KINDRED HOSPITALS WEST, LLC, KINDRED HEALTHCARE, INC., and JEFFREY SOPKO,

Real Parties in Interest.

COURT OF APPEAL
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION 3
CASE NO. B254958

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARNEY R. SHEGERIAN, ESQ., STATE BAR NO. 150461
ANTHONY NGUYEN, ESQ., STATE BAR NO. 259154
SHEGERIAN & ASSOCIATES, INC.
225 SANTA MONICA BOULEVARD, SUITE 700
SANTA MONICA, CALIFORNIA 90401

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

This case presents the following issues:

- (1) Did the Court of Appeal err by reviewing plaintiff's right to a jury by writ of mandate, rather than appeal? *See Nessbit*, 214 Cal. 1.
- (2) Is there a right to jury trial on a retaliation cause of action under Health and Safety Code section 1278.5?

#### II. Answers to the Issues

# A. The Court of Appeal Did Not Err by Reviewing Plaintiff's Right to a Jury by Extraordinary Writ, Rather than Appeal.

The clear modern view is that refusal to allow a jury trial in a proper proceeding is an act in excess of jurisdiction and extraordinary relief will lie to prevent a trial by the court. The 1931 holding in *Nessbit*, 214 Cal. 1, and the 1892 holding in *Donohue v. Superior Court* (1892) 93 Cal. 252, refusing to allow mandamus to compel a jury trial, while never expressly overruled, have long been inconsistent with the Supreme Court's views on the meaning and scope of the doctrine of acts in excess of jurisdiction. The holding in *Nessbit* generally has been ignored by numerous Courts of Appeal, in particular in *Knight v. Superior Court* (1950) 95 Cal.App.2d 838, 839-840; *Turlock Golf etc. Club v. Superior Court* (1966) 240 Cal.App.2d

693, 699; Byram, supra, 74 Cal.App.3d at 654; Selby Constructors v. McCarthy (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 517, 522-523; and Winston v. Superior Court (1987) 196 Cal.App.4th 600, 603. It has also been questioned as of doubtful validity by the Montana Supreme Court in In re Banschbach (1958) 133 Mont. 312. Nessbit was implicitly overruled by the California Supreme Court decisions in Crouchman v. Superior Court (1988) 45 Cal.3d 1167 (considering merits of writ petition concerning right to jury trial from small claims appeal), and Grafton Partners v. Superior Court (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944 (reviewing merits of writ of prohibition concerning jury waivers).

Nessbit has not been good authority for decades.

Accordingly, this Court should expressly overrule Nessbit.

# B. There Is a Right to Jury Trial on a Retaliation Cause of Action Under Health and Safety Code § 1278.5.

Relief was properly granted because section 1278.5 was amended in 2007 to enlarge the available remedies by adding "any remedy deemed warranted by the court pursuant to this chapter or any other applicable provision of statutory or common law." The plain language of the amendment adds common-law damages to the remedies. Shaw does not seek any equitable relief. The "gist" of plaintiff's action is purely legal, not equitable. The Court of Appeal properly granted extraordinary relief. Entitlement to a jury trial for legal damages under section 1278.5 fulfills the legislative purposes behind the

whistle-blower enactment and provides substantive meaning to this Court's decision in Fahlen v. Sutter Central Valley Hospitals (2014) 58 Cal.4th 655, which real parties in interest ignore. A jury trial is available because, "If the action is not one in equity, it follows, of course, that it is an action at law." Philpott v. Superior Court (1934) 1 Cal.2d 512, 517. Shaw has a right to a jury trial.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. Shaw Was Employed by Real Parties in Interest.

Shaw was employed by real parties in interest's health care facility. Plaintiff complained to defendants about conditions that affected the quality of care and services at defendants' health care facility. In particular, plaintiff complained that defendants were employing as health care professionals individuals who were not licensed or certified. Plaintiff also complained to defendants that they employed health care professionals who had not properly completed their competencies. (Opn., pp. 2-3.)

#### II. Shaw Was Fired in Retaliation.

In retaliation for her complaints, defendants discriminated against plaintiff by issuing her a warning, taking adverse employment actions against her, and then terminating her employment. (Opn., p. 3.)

Shaw alleges that, as a result of defendants' conduct, she has suf-

fered and continues to suffer past and future monetary losses, losses of benefits, *emotional damages*, and physical injury. (Opn., p. 3.)

#### III. Shaw Does Not Seek Equitable Relief.

On October 17, 2012, plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint against real parties, alleging two causes of action: damages pursuant to Health and Safety Code section 1278.5 and damages for wrongful employment termination in violation of public policy. (FAC, pp. 1-6.)

#### Shaw did not seek reinstatement.

Instead, the prayer for the section 1278.5 cause of action demanded, *inter alia*, "compensatory and emotional distress damages according to proof." *The prayer does not request any equitable relief*.

### IV. Shaw Demands Jury Trial.

Plaintiff demanded a jury trial.

## V. The Trial Court Denied a Jury Trial.

On March 6, 2014, petitioner and real parties in interest simultaneously filed briefs on the availability of a jury trial under section 1278.5. On March 10, 2014, the issue of a jury trial was argued. Respondent Court then concluded that a cause of action under section 1278.5 is equitable, denied a jury trial for that cause of action, and stayed trial until April 1, 2014, to allow the writ petition. (Opn., pp. 3-5.)

### VI. The Second District Properly Considered the Petition.

The clear modern view is that refusal to allow a jury trial in a proper proceeding is an act in excess of jurisdiction and that extraordinary relief will lie to prevent a trial by the court. The 1931 holding in *Nessbit*, 214 Cal. 1, refusing to allow mandamus to compel a jury trial, while never expressly overruled, has long been inconsistent with the Supreme Court's views on the meaning and scope of the doctrine of acts in excess of jurisdiction.

Specifically, *Nessbit* has not been good authority for decades.

This Court should expressly overrule Nessbit.

# VII. There Is a Right to Jury Trial Under § 1278.5.

Plaintiff's Complaint seeks compensatory damages, including damages for emotional distress and physical injuries. Such damages are traditionally recoverable in employment actions. These damages were tried to a jury at common law.

The Second District properly granted relief because section 1278.5 was amended in 2007 to enlarge the available remedies by adding "any remedy deemed warranted by the court pursuant to this chapter or any other applicable provision of statutory or common law." The "gist" of plaintiff's action is purely legal, not equitable. She does not seek reinstatement. The amendment clearly adds common-law damages to the available remedies. "If the action is not one

in equity, it follows, of course, that it is an action at law." *Philpott,* 1 Cal.2d at 517. It therefore follows that a jury trial is available under subdivision (g).

Entitlement to a jury trial for legal damages under section 1278.5 fulfills the legislative purposes behind the whistle-blower enactment and provides substantive meaning to this Court's decision in *Fahlen*, 58 Cal.4th 655.

As is explained below, the district court was correct.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR BY REVIEWING PLAINTIFF'S RIGHT TO A JURY BY EXTRAORDINARY WRIT, RATHER THAN APPEAL.

The clear modern view of all courts is that refusal to allow a jury trial in a proper proceeding is an act in excess of jurisdiction and that extraordinary relief <sup>1</sup> will lie to prevent a trial by the court. Contrary to real parties in interest's Opening Brief, the reasoning of *Byram*, 74

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court has long recognized that "If the facts justify such [extraordinary] relief it is immaterial that defendant has prayed for the wrong remedy . . ." Owens v. Superior Court (1959) 52 Cal.2d 822, 827. Although the petition was framed in terms of mandate, extraordinary relief was warranted, whether as a denominated mandate or as prohibition. Honore v. Superior Court (1969) 70 Cal.2d 162, 164; Anderson v. Superior Court (1989) 213 Cal.App.3d 1321, 1328; Silva v. Superior Court (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 562, 573.

Cal.App.3d 648, is not "cursory and flawed." (OB, p. 4.) Moreover, this Court itself has implicitly overruled *Nessbit.*<sup>2</sup> This is an opportunity to do so expressly, applying consistent precedent that has existed over the past several decades.

## A. The Modern View of Express Jurisdiction

The holdings in *Nessbit* and *Donohue*, 93 Cal. 252, refusing to allow mandamus to compel a jury trial, while never expressly overruled, have long been wholly inconsistent with the Supreme Court's views on the meaning and scope of the doctrine of acts in excess of jurisdiction.

In Abelleira v. District Court of Appeal (1941) 17 Cal.2d 280, this Court explained:

[I]n its ordinary usage the phrase "lack of jurisdiction" is not limited to these fundamental situations. For the purpose of determining the right to review by certiorari, restraint by prohibition, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Additionally, *Nessbit* and the facts present are inapposite. *Nessbit* held that a writ of mandate should not be granted *under the facts of the case. Nessbit* was a shareholders' lawsuit. There was a dispute as to whether the underlying facts of the case permitted resolution of the claim individually, which would give a jury trial, or whether the action had to be brought as a representative suit, which would give a bench trial. *Nessbit*, 214 Cal. 1. The case here has no disputed facts. Instead, the only dispute is a question of law resting solely on whether remedies under section 1278.5 are legal or equitable.

dismissal of an action, a much broader meaning is recognized. Here it may be applied to a case where, though the court has jurisdiction over the subject matter and the parties in the fundamental sense, it has no "jurisdiction" (or power) to act except in a particular manner, or to give certain kinds of relief, or to act without the occurrence of certain procedural prerequisites.

#### *Id.* at 288.

Denial of the right to a jury trial was an act in excess of the trial Court's jurisdiction because:

Speaking generally, any acts which exceed the defined power of a court in any instance, whether that power be defined by constitutional provision, express statutory declaration, or rules developed by the courts and followed under the doctrine of stare decisis, are in excess of jurisdiction, in so far as that term is used to indicate that those acts may be restrained by prohibition or annulled on certiorari.

#### *Id.* at 291.

By 1941, any underpinning of Nessbit had been removed.

This is simply a case in which "Some earlier decisions containing expressions inconsistent with this analysis can no longer be relied upon." 2 Witkin, *California Procedure* (3rd ed.), Jurisdiction, § 220, p. 608.

Nessbit has not been good law since at least 1941.

# B. The *Nessbit* Holding Has Been Properly and Consistently Ignored.

The holding in *Nessbit* generally has been ignored by numerous Courts of Appeal. Several of the cases are gathered by the Fifth District in *Turlock, supra,* 240 Cal.App.2d at 699 ("Prohibition is a proper remedy, in circumstances such as these, to test a litigant's right to a jury trial"); see also Mallarino v. Superior Court (1953) 115 Cal.App.2d 781; Budde v. Superior Court (1950) 97 Cal.App.2d 615; Knight, supra, 95 Cal.App.2d 838. While the illegal denial of a jury would constitute cause to reverse any judgment against petitioner (Cowlin v. Pringle (1941) 46 Cal.App.2d 472; Union Oil Co. of California v. Hane (1938) 27 Cal.App.2d 106, 110; City of Redondo Beach v. Kumnick (1963) 216 Cal.App.2d 830, 839), it would be inefficient and, indeed, unconscionable to refuse to ascertain petitioner's right to a jury trial at this stage of the case.

Knight, 95 Cal.App.2d at 839-840, illustrates how the courts of appeal have analyzed the issue. In Knight, a petition to compel a jury trial was opposed on jurisdictional grounds. The Second District Court of Appeals found no such obstacle:

We are impressed, however, that later cases have relaxed this rigorous rule as well as definition of jurisdiction, and have committed the question of issuance of the writ here sought to the sound discretion of the court to which application therefore is made, in the light of whether by reason of the nature of the proceeding and the facts

and circumstances shown, an appeal would be a speedy and adequate remedy.

Specifically concerning the right to a jury trial, the *Knight* court stated: "It is our view that any court which denies the right of trial by jury in a case where any party has the constitutional right to it *exceeds* its jurisdiction."

In 1977, the Second District flatly stated:

A writ of mandate is a proper remedy to secure the right to a jury trial. After a trial to the court it may be difficult for the petitioner to establish that he was prejudiced by the denial of a jury trial. In addition, even if he could establish such prejudice as to warrant reversal of the judgment, such a procedure would be inefficient and time consuming.

Byram, supra, 74 Cal.App.3d at 654 (citation omitted).

The view that extraordinary relief is available to challenge the denial of a jury trial was so well established by 1979 that the Third District observed, "Such a review would normally appear to be the better practice in the interest of saving the time needlessly expended in a court trial if an erroneous jury trial denial has occurred." *Selby Constructors, supra,* 91 Cal.App.3d at 522-523.

The First District was equally blunt: "When a trial court has abused its discretion in denying relief from a waiver of jury trial, a writ of mandate prior to trial is the proper remedy." *Winston, supra*, 196 Cal.App.4th at 603.

The Court of Appeal has been equally clear that appealing the denial of a jury trial after trial is not the ideal practice. Villano v. Waterman Convalescent Hosp., Inc. (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 1189, 1205 (although denial of right to jury trial is reviewable on appeal, "it is the better practice to seek review of such a ruling by writ, saving the time and expense of a court trial if a jury trial is improperly denied"); see also Van de Kamp v. Bank of America (1988) 2014 Cal.App.3d 819, 862 ("While the better practice is to seek review of such a ruling by writ, saving the time and expense of a court trial if a jury trial improperly was denied, the ruling may be reviewed on appeal from the judgment"). Society has a manifest interest in avoiding needless retrials: they cause hardship to the litigants, delay the administration of justice, and result in social and economic waste. Hasson v. Ford Motor Company (1982) 32 Cal.3d 388, 418.

While age alone does not vitiate valid precedent, *Nessbit* and *Donohue* have been properly ignored because, "In assessing the precedents, [courts] . . . are not rigidly bound by the exacting rules that happen to be found on 'the legal scrap heap of [history]." *Jehl v. Southern Pac. Co.* (1967) 66 Cal.2d 821, 829.

The views in *Abelleira, Nessbit,* and *Donohue* have been properly ignored by the Courts of Appeal. Requiring the former to control is contrary to judicial economy and would violate the public policy that retrials are to be avoided whenever possible.

# C. The Reasoning in *Nessbit* Has Been Questioned by Other Supreme Courts.

What sparse note has been made of *Nessbit* has not been favorable. In 1958, the Montana Supreme Court did discuss *Nessbit*, questioning the jurisdictional rule. In *In re Banschbach, supra*, 133 Mont. 312, the initial issue was whether the denial of a jury trial were within the trial court's jurisdiction, precluding review by extraordinary writ. The Montana Supreme Court noted that *Nessbit* did support that view, "but even in California there are cases to the contrary." *Mallarino v. Superior Court*, 115 Cal.App.2d 781, 252 P.2d 993; *Knight v. Superior Court*, 95 Cal.App.2d 838, 214 P.2d 21, and see *Ex parte Becknell*, 119 Cal. 496, 51 P. 692." *Id.* at 314.

The Montana Supreme Court then noted numerous cases from other jurisdictions that hold that, where a party is entitled to a jury trial as a matter of right and it is being withheld from him, extraordinary relief is allowed, concluding:

The better-reasoned cases take the view that where either the Constitution or statute gives the right to a trial by jury and the jury is demanded and not waived, the jury constitutes an essential part of the tribunal authorized to determine the facts, and that the court in attempting to determine the facts without a jury exceeds its jurisdiction.

#### *Id.* at 314-315.

The outdated rule in *Nessbit* should not be revived.

### D. Nessbit Was Implicitly Overruled by This Court.

Real parties in interest's Opening Brief asserts that "this Court has not overruled" *Nessbit.* (OB, p. 13.)

This is not the case.

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